1950

# Virgin Redmond v. Petty Motor Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action in three causes. The third cause of action was admitted at the trial so we are concerned here with only the first and second causes of action.

The case grows out of an automobile transaction between the appellant, the plaintiff herein, and the respondent, hereinafter referred to as the defendant, involving a purchase by the plaintiff of a 1946 Stake Body Ford Truck for the

agreed price of \$1831.92, as a part of which transaction it was required by the defendant to pay for insurance, \$417.00 having been added to the contract for that purpose, and was agreed by the defendant that the defendant would insure the truck against fire, theft, and personal property damage in the case of collision or accident on the one hundred dollars deductable plan, and it was <sup>REPRESENTED</sup> ~~reported~~ by the defendant that the truck was in good condition of repair and that the mechanical condition was so guaranteed for a period of 90 days by the defendant.

The plaintiff turned in his old truck which constituted the down payment for the agreed price of \$1340.00, leaving a balance of \$1231.92 to be paid in monthly installments.

The plaintiff took possession of the truck on or about the 28th day of March, 1928 and drove it to Boise, Idaho (R. 100) when it was discovered that the truck was using oil

and water. The next day engine trouble developed and it was necessary to pull into Pasco, Washington, where a new motor was substituted (R. 102). With the new motor the trip to Seattle was completed and on the way back, approaching Boise, Idaho, the truck went off the road and tipped over, causing substantially \$665.00 damage to the truck (R. 109).

The plaintiff left the truck at Boise, Idaho and came on to Salt Lake City to determine from the defendant the proper disposition to be made of it with reference to the insurance against the loss of \$665.00, having been so advised, returned to Boise the next day and brought the truck to the defendant's place of business at Sugarhouse, from whence he was instructed almost every day that the insurance would take care of the truck's repair (R. 112). Finally, after 60 days had expired he was informed that the insurance had never been obtained until after the accident had happened (R. 111.).

The plaintiff, at the time of the accident, was using the truck on a contract haul from which he obtained \$22.00 a day for its use.

The first cause of action is for the damage to the truck less \$100.00 deducted, for the loss of the use of the truck (R. 16), and for the unused portion of the insurance premium. The second cause of action is for the cost of the motor replacement. The court took the questions raised by the second cause of action from the jury in its Instruction No. 2 (R. 267), and submitted the first cause of action to the jury on instructions together with the defendant's counterclaim. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff in his first cause of action for the sum of \$2231.49 and \$23.40 in his third cause of action as instructed by the court and returned a verdict for the defendant in its cross complaint for the sum of \$1231.92 (R. 76-7).



## ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The plaintiff assigns as error:

1. The ruling of the court directing the verdict in favor of the defendant and against the plaintiff in the plaintiff's first cause of action.

2. The ruling of the court taking from the jury the plaintiff's second cause of action.

## ARGUMENT

### FIRST ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The ruling of the court directing the verdict in favor of the defendant and against the plaintiff in the plaintiff's first cause of action.

The plaintiff's first cause of action grows out of the defendant's failure to obtain insurance against loss by accident as the defendant had agreed to do. (R. 98).

Q. Well, did he insist on the insurance?

A. Yes, he insisted that I have insurance

Q. And that was figured in the contract  
and put in the purchase order?

A. Yes.

The loss complained of occurred on or about the 8th day of April, 1949. The defendant produced and placed into evidence (Defendant's Exhibit No. 4) an insurance policy countersigned April 12, 1949, four days after the loss occurred, the policy period of which was dated back to March 28, 1949, the date of the contract for the purchase of the truck. The policy was cancelled June 15, 1949 (Plaintiff's Exhibit D). The question of whether or not the defendant ordered the insurance prior to the time of the loss was properly submitted to the jury in the Court's Instruction No. 11 (R. 273) of the defendant's own instruction. The court's subsequent directed verdict was made on the theory that there was not sufficient evidence of the defendant's failure to fulfill its contract to furnish insurance at the time of the loss to go to the jury.

On the question of whether or not application had been made for insurance prior to the time of the loss, Mr. Imhoff, the insurance

adjuster, testified that no application for insurance had been made prior to the loss (R. 217).

Q. Mr. Imhoff, we have a question here with reference to a policy of insurance on a truck which was dated the 12th day of April, 1949 and which was, as Mr. Petty has said in his testimony here, ordered on the 30th day of March, 1949. I am going to show you the policy which has been marked 'Defendant's Exhibit No. 4' and ask you if you will examine it and tell us whether or not you have ever seen it?

A. I can't say that I have actually seen this policy. I have seen lots like them.

Q. Well, has the matter that that policy involves ever come in your office or come to your attention?

A. My recollection at this time is when they came in my office it was April 14, by my records here I can tell you exactly in the afternoon.

Q. That was Mr. Redmond and Mr. Neuman Petty, was it?

A. Yes.

Q. Who came to your office?

A. Yes.

Q. Now tell us what you were going to tell.

A. And as I recall at that time, Mr. Redmond had his policy of insurance, one that was just similar to this, it could have been this one.

Q. And what was said by the parties?

A. Mr. Petty told me that there would be a loss on a policy of insurance that I had adjusted; namely the American Aviation and Insurance Company for Virgil Redmond. He asked that I go with him while we looked at the truck for Mr. Redmond.

Q. Now was that the first time that the loss was reported by Mr. Petty, if you know?

A. That was the first time it was reported to me.

. . . .

Q. And did you have any subsequent conversation with Mr. Petty and Mr. Charles Vander when they were both present?

A. I don't follow what you mean.

Q. Well, did you ever have a meeting with Mr. Neuman Petty and Mr. Charles Vander, Mr. Vander being a representative of the Insurance Company?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, where did that take place?

A. In Mr. Vander's office?

Q. Now when was that?

A. That I can't answer. It was subsequent, approximately 30 days after April 14, 1949.

Q. And will you give us the substance of that conversation?

A. Well, it was quite a long conversation and I don't think I could give you the exact text of it.

Q. Well, do as well as you can about the insurance.

A. Well, Mr. Vander stated that there was

no insurance asked for that was valid and Mr. Petty said that there was, then they argued back and forth and that was about all I can remember. I can't give you the exact wording from there on. . . . Then Mr. Vander stated that their records showed that after the accident that Mr. Redmond had with his truck that Mr. Petty called and asked for the policy to be written as of March 28, 1949.

Q. Yes, asked to have it dated back, in other words?

A. Yes.

. . . . (R. 224)

Q. The question was whether or not the loss was ultimately approved or denied?

A. The loss was denied.

Q. The loss was denied?

A. Yes.

Q. And I will ask the question in this way, do you know why the loss was denied and answer that Yes or No.

A. Yes.

A. Because the company believed from the investigation that there was no policy of insurance, any valid policy of insurance at the time of this loss.

On cross examination with reference to the same conversation Mr. Imhoff said (R. 228):

A. Mr. Petty stated that he had called the Ensign Insurance Agency prior to the loss and Mr. Vander stated that he had not, that's right. (R. 231)

Q. Did Mr. Redmond sign the proof of loss in this case?

A. He signed a proof of loss which was torn up and thrown away when I found out there was no coverage.

With reference to this matter Mr. Redmond, the plaintiff, testifies as follows: (R. 111-12)

Q. Is John Imhoff the man Mr. Petty took you to in the first place?

A. Yes, he is the insurance adjuster.

Q. And did he tell you anything about who

John Imhoff was?



Q. And this is the same John Imhoff that you are now quoting as speaking.

A. Yes. Well, he told us that the insurance policy wasn't written up until after I had wrecked my truck so he said he didn't know. He said you would just have to wait, whether they would pay it or not. They wouldn't tell us. We couldn't do anything. He wouldn't commit himself whether they would pay it or whether they wouldn't. When we left Neuman said, "I am sure they will pay it. They have got the policy. They will have to pay it." Somehow it was backdated before the truck was wrecked and after it was written up and backdated and they denied they would have to pay it. They just kept putting it off till finally about two months later they sent me a notice of cancellation.

Q. What was the date of that notice of cancellation, do you know?

A. About June 15th, I think.

identification has been marked as Plaintiff's Exhibit D, and ask you if this is the notice of cancellation that you received?

A. Yes.

Q. And what date is that?

A. June 15th.

On the redirect (R. 186).

A. Imhoff told us when he got back he found out it wasn't dated so he had to send back there and let them decide whether they would pay us or not because the policy wasn't written up until about a week after I had wrecked the truck and it had been backdated before I wrecked the truck and on those dates he wouldn't commit himself one way or the other whether they would pay it.

With reference to which conversation Mr. Neuman Petty, the defendant's president testified as follows: (R. 234)

Q. Now, Mr. Petty, with reference to this insurance dispute you heard Mr. Imhoff testify

about a conversation you had and he had, Mr.

Redmond being there, and I will ask you to give us your version of what happened and what transpired at that time with reference to this application for insurance that I asked Mr. Imhoff about which had a date stamp on it?

A. We had talked with Mr. Vander and I had talked with Mr. Imhoff prior to the meeting in Mr. Vander's office at the Ensign Insurance Agency. Mr. Vander and Mr. Imhoff contended at that time that I had not made application for insurance until after the accident had occurred and my records definitely showed otherwise. Without the file on the case in Mr. Vander's office, and upon examination the application for insurance was stamped with their rubber stamp, time stamp, dated April 5, 1949, which was prior to the accident.

This testimony presents a factual question for the jury as to whether or not the insurance was in fact applied for prior to the reported

loss.

The question was squarely presented by the court to the jury by the Court's Instructions No. 7, No. 8, and No. 11 as follows:

Instruction No. 7

"If you find from the evidence that the defendant promised and agreed with the plaintiff to obtain insurance on the truck in question covering the loss and collecting from the plaintiff the premium therefore or charged him for the said amount in the sum of \$417.00, but that the defendant failed and neglected to obtain the said insurance and a loss occurred on or about the 6th day of April, 1949, then you will find that the plaintiff is entitled to recover from the defendant in the amount of the insurance paid less the amount of the earned premium from March 28th, 1949, to April 6th, 1949, together with the amount of \$644.35, less the amount of \$100.00, or the sum of \$544.53."

Instruction No. 8

"If you find that the defendant failed to obtain an insurance policy as it had agreed, and if you find that the plaintiff was damaged by such failure, you are instructed that the plaintiff had the duty to exert himself reasonable to limit the amount of his damage, and the plaintiff cannot, under such circumstances, sit idly by while his damages mount. You are therefore instructed, under such circumstances, that if you find that the plaintiff could have, with reasonable effort, had his truck repaired within a two week period, his recovery for loss of use of his truck should not exceed such a reasonable period."

Instruction No. 11

"If you find that the defendant agreed to obtain a policy of insurance insuring the truck in this case against loss due to fire, theft or collision under a \$100.00 deductible plan, you are instructed that such an agreement imposed upon the defendant duty to use reasonable and ordinary diligence to obtain such a policy in accordance with the usual practices of persons and corporations engaged in a business similar to the defendant."

"If you find that the defendant ordered such insurance from an authorized insurance agent in Salt Lake City, and if you further find that the defendant was informed by such insurance agent that the coverage was in force as of the date of the sale of this truck, and if you further find that thereafter a policy of insurance was issued by an insurance company in favor of the plaintiff, and if you further find that said policy was thereafter, some two and one half months later, cancelled by the insurance company, you are instructed that the defendant did not breach its contract with the plaintiff and are instructed to return a verdict in such event for the defendant of no cause of action on the first cause of action."

Instruction No. 7 having been requested by the plaintiff and Instruction No. 8 being the defendant's Request No. 9, and Instruction No. 11 being the defendant's Request No. 5, verbatim.

The law is stated from 26 Am. Jur. page 439, as follows:

"The view accepted generally is that an applicant for insurance must use due diligence to disclose to the insurer all facts materially affecting the risks which arise or are discovered after his application has been made and before the contract has been consummated, but is not bound to use extraordinary means to do so. If, while the insurer deliberates, the applicant discovers facts which make portions of his application no longer true, the most elementary spirit of fair dealing calls for a full disclosure."

"Stipcich v. Metropolitan L. Ins. Co. 277 US 311, 72 L ed 895, 48 S Ct 512 (holding that this rule is not affected by a statutory provision that the policy must set forth the entire contract between the parties; Piedmont & A. L. Ins. Co. v. Ewing, 92 US 377, 23 L ed 610; Springfield F. & M. Ins. Co. v. National F. Ins. Co. (CCA 8th) 51 F (2d) 714, 76 ALR 1287; Carleton v. Patrons' Androscoggin, Mut. F. Ins. Co. 109 Me 79, 82 A 649, 39 LRA (NS) 951 (holding that a representation as to the existence of other insurance must be true when the application is accepted, and if untrue then, its truthfulness when made is immaterial); Harris v. Security Mut. L. Ins. Co. 130 Tenn 325, 170 SW 474, LRA 1915C 153, Ann Cas 1916B 380 (wherein the insured was seized with an attack of renal colic between the date of the application and issuance of the policy, and had answered "no" in the application to the question whether he had ever been afflicted with renal colic).  
"Anno: 8 LRA(NS) 983, s. 39 LRA(NS) 951; 15 Ann Cas 126, s. Ann Cas 1916B 381.

"Where a party orders insurance and afterwards receives intelligence material to the risk, or has knowledge of a loss, he ought to communicate it to the agent as soon as

it can be communicated with due and reasonable diligence for the purpose of countermanding the order or laying the circumstances before the underwriter. If he omits so to do and by due and reasonable diligence the information might have been communicated so as to have countermanded the insurance, the policy is void. M'Lanahan v. Universal Ins. Co. 1 Pet. (US) 170, 7 L ed 98."

Stipcich v. Metropolitan L. Ins. Co. 277 US 311, 72 L ed 895, 48 S. Ct. 512."

This point of law is further treated by Paragraph 261 of American Digest System under the heading of Insurance.

"Insured's failure to disclose changes materially affecting risk, after application and before delivery of policy, renders contract voidable.--Stipcich v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 48 S. Ct. 512, 277 U. S. 311, 72 L. Ed. 892, reversing (D.C.) 8F (2d) 285."

"C.C.A. Ohio 1932. Insured's failure to disclose conditions affecting risk or which he is aware makes contract voidable at insurer's option.--New York Life Ins. Co. v. Cohen, 57 F. (2d) 494, reversing (D.C.) 48 F. (2d) 903."

"C.C.A. Ohio 1933. Landlord's concealment of tenant's default, in negotiations with surety on tenant's bond for execution of continuation certificate to cover period during which tenant had already defaulted, held in invalidating certificate.--Anton Zerina Realty Co. v. Maryland Casualty Co., 67 F. (2d) 292.

"C.C.A. Cal. 1926. Knowledge of loss before issuance of policy and failure to

notify insurer will preclude recovery on policy.—Eagle Star & British Dominions Ins. Co. v. George A. Moore & Co., 9 F. (2d), affirming (D.C.) George A. Moore & Co. v. Eagle Star & British Dominions Ins. Co., 5 F. (2d) 358."

"N.Y. Sup. 1939. Insured's failure to disclose conditions affecting the risk, of which he is aware, makes the contract voidable at insurer's option.—First Nat. Bank & Trust Co. of Port Chester v. New York Title Ins. Co., 12 N.Y.S. 2d. 703, 171 Misc. 854."

Further and ~~on~~<sup>to</sup> the same effect;

"On the other hand, insured's failure to disclose to insurer knowledge, acquired between the time of the application and the delivery of the policy, of a fact materially affecting the risk has been held to void the policy." 45 CJS page 394, paragraph 594.

It is respectfully submitted that there was competent evidence to go to the jury on the question of whether or not the insurance had been applied for before the loss was incurred. Mr. Petty said that the memorandum by his employee indicated that it had, and further John Imhoff said in the conversation with himself, Mr. Petty and Mr. Charles Vander that Mr. Vander said that it had not been.

Considering the case from this aspect alone



it was properly submitted and by the jury decided under Instruction No. 11 that the insurance policy had not been ordered prior to the reported loss.

On the other hand, however, if the case is viewed from the defendant's position that the policy had been ordered prior to the happening of the loss but had not been issued until six days after the loss had been reported, the happening of the loss being April 6th, the report of the loss being April 7th, the writing of the insurance policy being April 12th, and that the defendant had failed to report the happening of the loss between the time that the insurance was applied for the issuance of the policy, this failure to reasonably report the happening of the loss by the defendant would also have voided the policy. The policy was, therefore, voidable by the insurance company in either construction taken unless it should be admitted that the insurance company agreed that the policy should become effective on the 30th day of March,

1949, or before the happening of the loss and if that is the contention of the defendant, that question was also submitted to the jury on competent evidence by proper instructions and it was answered by the jury's verdict in the negative.

It is respectfully submitted, therefore, that the defendant's motion for a directed verdict should have been denied and that the defendant's motion for a new trial ~~on~~ the alternative should have been denied.

#### SECOND ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The ruling of the court taking from the jury the plaintiff's second cause of action.

The plaintiff's second cause of action is for the replacement of the motor which became defective, blew up, and had to be replaced before the truck had traveled 1000 miles or before it had reached Pasco, Washington. (R. 101)

Q. How could you tell there was water in the oil?

was little bubbles and it was way full of water  
and you could tell there was something wrong

there. So my brother pulled me into Dayton and we thought we had blowed a head gasket. So we had a new head gasket put on in the garage and had the oil filter taken out and a new one put in, and we started out and it seemed to run all right for a while and we got two or three hundred miles farther and it started missing and sputtering again. And at that time I pulled to one side and my wife and baby was in there, and I pulled off to one side and it just blew up like there was some dynamite in it and it scared us. My brother he stopped, he was in front of me, and he came back and we thought then it was ruined for sure and we pulled it into Pasco, Washington, behind my brother's truck and we reached there just at closing time but they checked it. We pulled the head off there and checked it and we could see that the piston was broke. There was two pistons broke and the head was broke and everything and they told us right then

MR. SNOW: I object to that. You can't tell about what was said there.

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