1951

Virgin Redmond v. Petty Motor Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

THE COURT RULED CORRECTLY IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT UPON THE APPELLANT'S FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION.

Respondent's Exhibit 4, the insurance policy in question, was introduced in evidence and received by the court without objection by the appellant. Examination reveals it to be the ordinary automobile insurance policy covering the truck in question from March 28, 1949. The policy was prepared some time in the first part of April, 1949 and was countersigned, as required

by Utah law, on April 12, 1949. The evidence is without dispute that it is a common practice in the insurance business for policies to be back-dated to cover a vehicle from the date of a conditional sales contract for its purchase (R 236). It is also without dispute in the evidence that this policy was ordered in the ordinary course of business by the respondent company and that the policy was back-dated in accordance with the ordinary course of business among automobile dealers, finance companies, and insurance companies, Exhibit A (R 235, 236).

It is significant that although the appellant was confronted with the policy of insurance at an early stage in the proceedings on this cause, no effort was ever made to call for testimony any agent or employee of the insurance company which wrote the policy or of the agency which accepted the risk at the time the respondent ordered the insurance. The appellant produced no evidence of any kind to challenge the validity of the insurance policy, but concentrated his attack upon the proposition that the respondent should be held liable because a claim had been presented on an insurance policy and had been denied by the insurance company because it believed there was no valid policy in existence at the time of the loss, which belief was based upon a dispute as to the time the application for the insurance was filed. No other reason for the denial of the claim appears in the record.

There is no evidence in the record of fraud or misrepresentation and this is for the very good reason that there was no fraud or misrepresentation. The appellant made no attempt to enforce the provisions of the insurance policy although he knew of its existence. He had no correspondence with the insurance company or with its local representatives. The policy stood from the date of its issuance until June 20, 1949 without being challenged by the insurance company (R 118-120). The insurance company took no action in the weeks intervening between the proof of loss and the notice of cancellation to invalidate the policy or to exercise any option it might have had to void the policy, which option is claimed by appellant to have existed, in law.

By the terms of the oral agreement between the appellant and the respondent company, respondent company agreed to obtain insurance and when the insurance policy in evidence was obtained, its contract was fulfilled. This agreement could not be extended by any stretch of the imagination to include an agreement by the respondent to guarantee that any loss or claim under the policy would be honored by the insurance company. Respondent could do no more than obtain a policy and hold it in trust for the appellant, as is the practice with a conditional vendor, and exert such effort and such pressure as it might have by reason of prior dealings with the local insurance agent to

see that the assured under the policy received fair treatment. This respondent attempted to do repeatedly. Mr. Petty, having applied for the insurance, and believing the insurance to be in force, took appellant to the insurance adjuster as soon as appellant returned to Salt Lake City on or about April 11th or 12th, 1949 (R 240). He accompanied appellant to various repair shops to arrange for repairs (R 238). He made appointments to get repairs made and used his influence to make the appointments earlier than ordinarily would have been the case. A clear indication of the lack of good faith of appellant, to which further reference will be made, is found in the fact that appellant failed to keep such an appointment at the Diamond T Truck Company, although this was a long time before any dispute had arisen about the insurance policy (R 189, 190).

The very nature of the claimed cause of action set forth by the appellant as his first cause of action can be no more than this: Respondent agreed to obtain an insurance policy; appellant claims the policy was never obtained and the contract was thus violated; respondent produced the insurance policy to show its contract was not violated. Clearly, then, unless the appellant can show that the policy thus obtained was a mere scrap of paper, the appellant must fail. As pointed out by Appleman, in "*Insurance Law & Practice*", Volume 3, Sec. 1811, et seq., an

insurance policy, good and valid upon its face, is a good, valid and subsisting contract between the insurance company and the assured until such time as one of the following things occurs:

1. A court of competent jurisdiction adjudicates that the policy is void.

2. The insurance company terminates the contract in accordance with the provisions of the policy relating to termination or cancellation.

3. The insured terminates the contract by following the procedures set forth in the policy for terminating or cancelling the policy.

None of these alternative measures had occurred prior to the institution of this law suit by appellant. If either of the latter two alternatives had been commenced prior to the institution of the law suit, neither could affect the rights of any person under the policy as it existed prior to such occurrence. The law in this connection is well stated in 29 *American Jurisprudence, Insurance*, Sec. 281, page 261, wherein it is stated:

“The cancellation of an insurance policy does not affect the rights which have already accrued under the policy in favor of the insured or of a third person, and consequently, notice of the insurer’s previous election to terminate the policy, given the insured after a loss has

occurred, is manifestly insufficient to avoid liability under the policy for such loss.”

This doctrine was referred to favorably by the Supreme Court of Utah in the case of *Schubach v. American Surety Company of New York*, 1929, 73 Utah 332, 273 Pac. 974, at page 354 of the Utah Reports.

It is extremely doubtful that a court would have relieved the insurance company of its obligation under this policy even if an action had been commenced against the company on the policy, because the company, by its lack of action in the period from early April until June 15, 1949, indicated its belief that the policy was in existence and was in full force and effect. This is further emphasized by the fact that the notice of cancellation sent by the company to the appellant, Exhibit D, follows the provisions of the policy relating to cancellation by giving notice to the insured that the policy would be cancelled five days following the date of the notice, namely, on June 20, 1949. Such a notice of cancellation by the insurance company is said to be an admission that the policy is in force as of the date of the notice of cancellation. Appleman “*Insurance Law and Practice*”, Volume 12, Sec. 7124. *Middleton vs. North American Protective Association*, 1931, 260 Ill. Appellate Courts 288.

Whether or not the insurance company would have been relieved of its policy had an action been instituted

against it cannot be determined in this law suit for the reason that the question was not explored by the appellant and no evidence was brought to bear by him in his attack upon this policy. Appellant claims that the jury passed on the questions herein involved adversely to the respondent and the instructions of the court presented the matters to the jury and were based upon competent evidence. A mere cursory reading of this record reveals the fallacy of this statement. All of the evidence in the record relating to the insurance policy may be summarized as follows: That the contract between the parties hereto was made March 28, 1949; that the insurance was applied for by employees of the respondent company on March 30, 1949; that in the next few days a request was received from the insurance agency for two items of additional information about the appellant, namely, his age and previous driving record; that the records of the insurance agency showed an application received by that office and date stamped in the ordinary course of business on April 5, 1949; that an accident occurred to the truck April 6, 1949, which fact was made known to the respondent on April 7 or 8, 1949; that appellant returned to Salt Lake City on April 11 or 12, 1949, with the truck; that the necessary proofs of loss and other notices to the insurance company were presented personally to the adjuster, Imhoff, on or about April 14, 1949; that two weeks later a conversation was had between Mr. Petty, representing the respondent, and Mr. Redmond,

for himself, and a Mr. Vander, the insurance agent, at which time a dispute arose between Petty and Vander as to the date of the application received by Vander's office; that the claim was later denied by the company because of its belief that no valid policy existed at the time of the loss.

It is submitted that none of the foregoing evidence even bears remotely on the question of whether or not the respondent obtained a valid insurance policy. The policy was in evidence. It was good and valid upon its face. No evidence was brought into court showing it was not valid and not good upon its face, and no evidence was produced from any competent person who could speak for the insurance company that the insurance company did not consider the policy in full force and effect until after the institution of this action. Obviously such evidence would have been easy for the appellant to obtain had it been in existence, because such evidence would have aided the insurance company in getting "off the risk". It was the appellant who had the burden of successfully assailing the insurance policy. Equally obvious is the fact that the respondent could not have obtained such evidence even if it had been available because the insurance company, at the time of trial, had taken the position that its policy was of no force and effect from the date of June 20, 1949 and forward, and it would be extremely difficult for the respondent to find willing testimony

contradicting a decision which had been made by the responsible company.

It was because of this lack of competent evidence impugning the validity of the policy that the trial court correctly ruled that the appellant had the burden of showing that the insurance policy was invalid before it could successfully maintain its first cause of action. Of course, respondent, after its motion for directed verdict was denied before submission to the jury, was required to submit such requests for instructions as would tend to mitigate the damages which might be returned by the jury in a situation such as this, but it did so without abandoning its position that the entire matter was not a question for the jury.

In addition to all of the foregoing, however, there is another factor which, it seems to us, is conclusive of this phase of this appeal. The question of whether or not this contract was breached by the respondent is a question primarily of law. The question of the validity of the insurance policy is primarily a question of law. Particularly is this true when, as here, there is a complete lack of competent evidence relating to the insurance policy and only a hodgepodge of inconclusive evidence about matters leading up to the existence of the policy. It is the familiar rule on appeal in cases of this kind that the trial court's action will not be disturbed unless there is a substantial showing

by the appellant of error or abuse of discretion. It is submitted that the appellant in his brief, has done little more than quote testimony favorable to himself and favorable to his construction of the problem presented, and that a fair examination of the entire record reveals that the trial court had no alternative but to remove the legal question of the validity of a document from jury consideration. It is difficult to see how the trial court could have done otherwise, particularly in view of the fact that the insurance company, whose policy was attempted to be destroyed by its own insured, was never present in court, either as a party or by competent agents or employees as witnesses.

Our research has not revealed a case in this jurisdiction or elsewhere which could be said to be in point on the problem presented on this appeal. Most of the cases which have arisen in this branch of insurance law have been actions between an insured and a broker or other insurance agent for failure to obtain or procure insurance for the benefit of the insured. Such recoveries as have been allowed have usually been upon the proposition that the broker failed to exercise that degree of professional skill or judgment required of him when he assumed to act for the insured. The facts which were produced in these cases to show a breach of the contract have usually revealed that the broker placed the insurance in an insolvent insurance company or in a foreign insurance company not au-

thorized to do business in the state where the transaction occurred, so that when the insured attempted to enforce the provisions of his policy he found no process agent or other person on whom service of process could be had, and thus his policy was little more than a scrap of paper. We have found no case where a person has agreed to obtain insurance for an insured and has obtained the insurance and has later been held responsible to the insured because of the refusal of the insurance company to honor a claim under its policy. To require the broker to stand in the shoes of the insurance company so far as the insured is concerned is to make the broker an insurer, which should not be done unless the broker, by his own conduct, or by the lack of due care or failure to take reasonable steps to obtain insurance, has visited such liability upon his own shoulders. We believe the rule applicable to brokers is equally applicable to the situation which presents itself here. The only exception to that statement may arise in the event a statutory provision creates special duties and requirements for persons acting as brokers, with which contingency we are not concerned in this case.

The general rule is summarized in 29 *American Jurisprudence*, Insurance, Sec. 107, page 129, as follows: The broker or agent "must exercise such reasonable skill and ordinary diligence as may fairly be expected from a person in his situation in doing what is

necessary to effect an insurance policy, in seeing that it effectually covers the property to be insured in selecting the insurer and ascertaining that it is of good credit and standing and in obtaining as good terms as are reasonably possible." Section 108 of the same volume states the general rule to be that "one who undertakes to procure insurance on the property of another and, unjustifiably and through his fault or neglect, fails to do so will be held liable for any damage resulting therefrom." In this connection it is interesting, in view of the amounts claimed by appellant, to note the measure of damages applied under the general rule just quoted. The measure of damages, according to *American Jurisprudence*, is "the amount that would have been due under the insurance policy provided it had been obtained."

From the foregoing rules it is apparent that no showing was made by the appellant which entitles him to recover from this respondent for the alleged failure to obtain the insurance policy in question. There was never a showing of neglect or fault on the part of the respondent. Indeed, it is difficult to see what the respondent could have done that it did not do. Appellant confines himself to a showing simply of a dispute which arose between an adjuster, (not employed by the insurance company involved) and the appellant and respondent, which culminated in information being received by the appellant from the insurance adjuster to the effect that the claim under the insurance policy had

been denied. The appellant could furnish no additional evidence that the insurance company was ever requested to honor its policy or ever requested to explain in detail its apparent refusal to pay the claim as presented to it through the adjuster, Imhoff.

We submit that the insurance company, on the basis of this record, could not successfully defend an action against it on this policy, particularly when the records of its own general agent show the application was commenced on March 30 and completed on April 5, both dates being before the loss occurred. This policy was a good and valid policy and, by obtaining it, respondent fully and completely performed its contract with appellant.

THE COURT RULED CORRECTLY IN DIRECTING A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THE RESPONDENT ON APPELLANT'S SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION.

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